# Manual of Mindfulness of Breathing

### Anāpāna Dipani

Mahāthera Ledi Sayadaw, Aggamahāpanita, D. Litt.

Translated into English by U Sein Nyo Tun (Late of the Indian Civil Service)

Prepared and presented by S.S. Davidson

Buddhist Publication Society Kandy, Sri Lanka

Published in 1999

Buddhist Publication Society P.O. Box 61 54, Sangharaja Mawatha Kandy, Sri Lanka

Copyright © 1999 by Buddhist Publication Society

ISBN 955-24-0194-1

For this edition the original translation by U Sein Nyo Tun has been modified in certain respects to improve readability.

Typeset at the BPS

Printed in Sri Lanka by Karunaratne & Sons Ltd. 67 U.D.A., Industrial Estate Katuwana Homaga

THE WHEEL PUBLICATION NO. 431/432

Contents

#### Editor s Foreword

- I e uest and Acceptance1
- II Exhortation to Practise and Strive for Spiritual Success 2
- III Drift in Past Sa sāra Because of Unstable Mind 4
- I Mindfulness of the Body before Tran uillity and Insight

Why Mindfulness of Breathing Should Be Practised 10

- I Mindfulness of Breathing Leads to Nibbāna 12
- II Posture for Meditation 13
- III The First Tetrad 14
- I The Method of the Commentary 17
  The Commentary econciled with the Sutta 23
  - I The Second Tetrad 27
- II The Third Tetrad 29
- III The Fourth Tetrad 30
- I How the Foundations of Mindfulness are Fulfilled 31

How the Enlightenment Factors are Fulfilled 33

- I How Knowledge and Deliverance are Fulfilled 34
- II How to Proceed to ipassanā 37 Conclusion 45

\_\_\_\_\_\_\_

Notes 47

A Short Biography 49

Appendix 52

### Editor s Foreword

The enerable Ledi Ara avihāravāsi Mahāthera of Monywa, better known as the enerable Ledi Sayadaw, Agga

mahāpan lita, D. Litt., is described in the short biography reproduced at the end of this work as p erhaps the outstanding Buddhist figure of this age.

Of this there can be little doubt, and this is the very reason why every attempt should be made to make known to Western readers – and in particular English speaking readers – as many as possi ble of the numerous works originally written by him either in Pāli or Burmese. These works are clear and precise expositions of Buddhism, suited to people of wide and differing abilities and understanding, and are invaluable aids for the study and practice of Dhamma in all its aspects.

Of works already translated into English every credit must be given to the Pali Text Society, E ngland, for publishing as early as 1913–14, in their ournal for those years, a translation of selecte d passages of Yamaka Pucch@ Vissajjan@— Some Points in Buddhist Doctrine—and again in their ournal for 1915–16 a translation, by U Shwe an Aung, B.A., of the Paffh@nuddesa D´pan´ o r Philosophy of elations.

But it is to Burma that so much is owed for continuing with the translation into English and pu blication of the works of this Sayadaw, through the medium of the periodical The Light of the Dh amma, which was printed by the Union Buddha Sasana Council Press. The Inaugural Number of t his periodical first appeared in 1952 but, unfortunately, publication ceased about eleven years late r in 1963, though the publication was revived about 1979.

During these first eleven years some seven major works or Dipanis, translated by various hand s, had been published, in serial form, in The Light of the Dhamma, and all these works continue to be available, both separately and combined together in one volume, The Manuals of Buddhism, p ublished by the Department of eligious Affairs, angoon. egrettably this book, as well as other Buddhist publications, are often extremely difficult to obtain outside Burma and sometimes can b e found only in public, university, or Buddhist libraries.

Although in the short biography reproduced hereafter a figure of more than seventy works is sh own to have been written by the enerable Sayadaw, when shorter articles not already recorded a nd many relevant letters, etc., are included, the final figure may well exceed a hundred, as further research continues and an attempt is made to compile a comprehensive list. In addition, two separ ate biographies which have been written about Ledi Sayadaw still await a competent translator int o English and a donor to sponsor publication.

The reputation of Ledi Sayadaw still lives on in Burma and in the Buddhist world. He was a bh ikkhu of great learning and a prolific writer with a unit ue style of exposition, and although there are some traditionalists who do not support or agree with some points in his interpretations, there are others who find them of great interest. He was also an austere bhikkhu, yet a very human one, who would often write a whole treatise or a long letter in reply to a uestion asked by one of his s upporters or en uirers.

Apart from accepting many bhikkhu students from various parts of Burma in order to impart B uddhist education to them, Ledi Sayadaw also toured many regions of the country for the purpose of propagating the Buddha Dhamma. He

often delivered discourses on the Dhamma, established

Abhidhamma classes and meditation centres, and composed Abhi

dhamma verses or Abhidhamma summaries, which he taught to his Abhidhamma classes.

In the year 1910, while residing at Masoyain Monastery in Mandalay, the enerable Ledi Saya daw together with the Abhidhaja Maharatthaguru, Masoyain Sayadaw of Mandalay (President of the Sixth reat Buddhist Council), the enerable Sayadaw U Nyana (who also translated into English Ledi Sayadaw s Patthanuddesa Dipani (or Paccay-

uddesa Dipani) The Concise Exposition of the Patthana elations, but published under the title The Buddhist Philo-

sophy of Relations), and U Shwe an Aung B.A. founded the Burma Buddhist Foreign Mission. This project was carried on by the Masoyain Sayadaw of Mandalay until the death of his English educated colleague in this undertaking, the Sayadaw U Nyana, some thirteen years after the deat h of the enerable Ledi Sayadaw in 1923.

There are still monasteries in Burma where his teachings and expositions are preserved and continue to be studied, such as the Kyaikkasan Ledi Meditation Centre in angoon, as well as the one established by Ledi Sayadaw himself near Monywa under the name Leditawya Monastery.

It is well known that at Mandalay in Burma in 1 56 King Mindon (1 52 77) conceived the me ritorious idea of having the Pali Tipitaka carved on marble slabs in order to ensure the preservation of the Teaching. The work took from 1 60 to 1 6 and involved 729 slabs. In 1 71 King Mind on convened the Fifth Buddhist Council. Outside Burma, however, it is not so well known that a s imilar mark of respect for the works of the enerable Ledi Sayadaw was made by his supporters at Monywa in Upper Burma after his death. This recognition and treatment of a Buddhist monk s works must be uni ue and gives some indication of the immense importance attached to them.

In view of the importance of Ledi Sayadaw s works and the difficulty of obtaining them in the West, every effort must be made to collect as many of them as possible, either in Pali, Burmese, or translation, and make them accessible to the West by adding them, by way of presentation, to the

e large number of his works already held by the British Library in London, where they would con tinue to be available to bhikkhus, scholars, students, and other readers.

In undertaking the printing of the Anapana Dipani, however, a small effort is being made to make this essential exposition available to interested students and readers in both the East and the West. This is done with the earnest wish that others will be encouraged thereby to help make the works of the enerable Ledi Sayadaw known to a wider audience.

The enerable Ledi Sayadaw wrote the Anapana Dipani in Burmese, but the retention or use of Pali words in translations has always been considered essential for, in case any doubt might arise as to the translator's rendering, the uoting of the Pali ensures that a clear and definite meaning, which may vary in accordance with the context in which they are used, is most often to be found in the original Pali and its Commentaries. In addition to the invaluable aid it provides for students and other interested readers, as a means of reference for study purposes the inclusion of Pali also adds to the translation the savour of the language of the Buddha himself, as found in the Pali Can on, together with the voice of elucidation of its commentators.

S.S. Davidson Southsea, 1996

### nāpāna D'pan'

Namo Tassa Bhagavato Arahato Sammāsambuddhassa

# I e uest and Accepance (abhiyācaka, pa i āna)

On the repeated re uest of the Lekaing Myosa Wunshindaw Kinwun Mingyi, I proceeded to Man dalay on the 11th waning day of the month of Tabaung 1265 B.E. (March 1904), and delivered se rmons to the monks and the laity for three days and three nights while sojourning in front of the K inwun Mingyi s house.

While I was thus engaged, the Kinwun Mingyi s son, who is the myo-ok of Pathein, and one M aung Khin who is the head clerk of the Deputy Commissioner s office in Mandalay, re uested me to write a manual on the practise of mindfulness of breathing (Entertasati) for their lifelong gui dance and benefit. In accordance with that re uest, I, the presiding Sayadaw of Ledi Forest Mona stery of Monywa, shall now expound concisely the Entertasati Sutta as given in the Uparipan ness of the Majjhima Nikeya (MN No. 11).

### II

### Exhortation to Practise and Strive for Spiritual Success

Tiööaµ annataraµ yŒmaµ, Pa ijaggeyya paö¶ito.

The wise man should cleanse himself by putting forth effort towards the attainment of spi ritual success during at least one of the three periods of life.

Dhammapada, 157

In accordance with the above admonition from the Dhammapada, wise and good people who h ave the ability to see clearly the relation of cause and effect should, right from the first period of life, renounce and relin uish success in the attainment of wealth (bhoga-sampatti) and put forth eff ort to attain spiritual success (bhava-sampatti). If effort during the first period of life is not possible, effort should be made during the second period of life. If effort during the second period of life is not possible, effort should be made as soon as one enters the third period of life. The essential point is that if one remains obsessed with material prosperity during all the three periods of life, o ne fails to take full advantage of the opportunity this life offers to win manifold higher benefits, f or this life is like a great wishing tree from which one may pluck many desirable things.

As life today is highly uncertain and beings are liable to die and disappear uickly and unexpectedly, one should demarcate the age of 50 or 55 as the end of the period for seeking material prosperity. Thereafter, one should renounce and relin uish material prosperity and put forth effort to obtain spiritual success so that one can achieve the advantages offered by one's encounter with a B uddha sEsana, so difficult to meet.

There are many ways of striving to obtain spiritual success. There is first the way of King Tem and King Hatthipāla, who renounced the pleasures and enjoyments of throne and palace while still young, during the first period of life, and adopted the lives of ascetics in the forest. There is also the way of the long line of 4,000 kings from King Maghadeva to King Nemi, who ruled their kingdoms and enjoyed the pleasures and luxuries of royalty during the first and second periods of life, but who stepped down in favour of their eldest sons during the third period of life. They then led secluded lives in the royal gardens practising the meditation on the four sublime states (brahm avih@ra-b@van@) until they attained the jhānas (meditative absorptions), and continued to live in solitude enjoying the pleasures of these attainments until their deaths.

Then there is the way of the universal monarch, King Mah Esudassana, who did not even leave his royal palace to live in the royal gardens, but continued to reside in the great golden palace call ed The Palace of Dhamma, ornamented with precious gems built for him by Sakka, the king of the devas in the T Evati sa heaven. He continued to live alone in that rich palatial residence practi sing the four sublime states until he attained the jh Enas.

There is also the way of the king of Takkas la, who on seeing the instructions for the meditation on in and out breathing inscribed on the golden palm leaves sent to him by the king of ājagah a, continued to reside alone on the uppermost storey of his seven storied palace practising the meditation on in and out breathing until he attained the fourth jhāna.

Wise Buddhists of the present day should emulate these distinguished personages of great futur e destiny, and select and adopt one or other of the practices aimed at spiritual success. Although, during the first period of life, they may pursue and live amidst the pleasures and enjoyments mad e possible by material prosperity, they should in good time renounce and relin uish their interest

and concern with material wealth and all activities related to this goal. They should renounce and relin uish such practices as unchastity and association with friends and companions, which are h abits inimical to the development of concentration (samādhi-bhāvanā). etaining contact only with the person who serves them food, they should engage in the practices which lead to spiritual success.

# III Drift in Past Sa stra Because of Unstable Mind

Here, for ordinary householders, practising for spiritual success means firmly establishing oneself in morality with right livelihood as the eighth precept (āj vallhamakas la), and assiduously pract ising mindfulness of the body (k@yagat@-sati), tran uillity meditation (samatha-kamma h@na), and insight meditation (vipassan@-kammafeh@na) within this lifetime, while one is yet in possession of the difficult achievements of obtaining a human birth and encountering the Buddha sāsana.

Before ac uiring tran uillity and insight, one must practise mindfulness of the body, which is o ne of the four foundations of mindfulness (satipa h@na). I shall now explain with an example why it is necessary to practise the foundations of mindfulness at the outset.

In this world, a madman who has no control over his mind is unable to work either for his own benefit or for the benefit of others. Even when eating his meals, he is liable to upset his plate and walk away. Far is it for him to be able to concentrate on work for the benefit of others. When this mad person is properly treated, he becomes sane and stable in mind and is then able to work for b oth his own benefit as well as for the benefit of others, just like other normal people.

Similarly, when ordinary normal persons in this world, those with ordinary sane minds, undert ake the subtle work of meditation for tran uillity and insight, they resemble the mad man without control over his mind. For example, when paying respects and reverence to the Buddha, the mind s of normal persons do not remain steadily and continuously concentrated on the Buddha s noble and incomparable ualities. Even when repeating the stan a for recollection of the Buddha (iti pi so bhagavā ...), their minds wander, and if they were obliged to start again from the beginning whenever their attention strayed, their task of repeating the stan a would never be successfully comp leted. It is only because they have committed the stan a to memory that they can repeat it to the end. The same occurs in relation to any subject of meditation. This is how ordinary persons — who are normally considered sane — are established as mad persons in the relation to the meditative de velopment of concentration and wisdom.

Let all take heed For in the case of such persons who have no control over their minds, far from being able to achieve the path, fruit, and Nibbāna (magga-phala-nibbāna), it is uncertain wheth er they can even obtain a rebirth in one of the happy worlds (sugati-loka).

In this world, people who have no control over their legs cannot successfully perform work that tre uires the use of legs. People who have no control over their hands cannot success fully perform work that re uires the use of hands. People who have no control over their tongues and mouths cannot successfully perform work that must be performed with their tongues and mouths. People who have no control over their minds cannot successfully perform work that must be performed with the mind. The work of meditative development is work that must be performed so lely with the mind. Hence it is that worldlings, both lay and ordained, who have no control over their minds cannot successfully practice the development of meditation. Their work consists merely of imitation.

Consider the case of a boatman who has not mastered the art of steering a boat floating down with the swift and strong currents of a great river, his craft filled with merchandise. During the ni

ght, he does not see the towns, havens, and anchorages that lie along the banks. During the day, al though he can see the towns, havens, and anchorages, he is unable to stop and anchor at any of th em because he cannot steer his boat, and thus he drifts down to the ocean looking at those towns, havens, and anchorages with longing and admiration.

In this example, the great river with the swift and strong currents, together with the ocean, is Sa µsāra, the round of rebirths, with its four floods (ogha). The boat laden with merchandise is the a ggregates (khandha) of a being. The boatman who cannot control his boat is a worldling (puthujja na). Stretches of the river lined with forests, where no towns, havens, and anchorages exist, are the world cycles where no Buddha sāsanas appear. The period of night when the boatman cannot see the towns, havens, and anchorages may be compared to the plight of those beings who, though reborn in this world during the time of a Buddha sāsana, nevertheless remain ignorant or unmindful of it because they happen to be in one or another of the eight inopportune places (a hakkhanas).

The period of day when the towns, havens, and anchorages can be seen, but the boatman is una ble to stop and anchor at any of them because he cannot steer his boat and thus drifts down to the ocean looking at them with longing and admiration – this may be compared to the plight of those beings who, though Buddhists, do not make any effort to practise meditation and thus resemble in sane persons having no control over their minds. They are unable to attain the towns, havens, and anchorages that are the absorptions achieved through tran uillity exercises (samatha-jhāna), insig ht knowledges (vipassanā- ā a), path knowledge (magga- ā a), fruition knowledge (phala- ā a), and Nibbāna. Paying respects to and evoking admiration for the Three ems (the Buddha, the Dhamma, and the Sangha), they drift without control to the world cycles devoid of a Buddha sāsa na, posing as payātagas and payā-amas (lay donors of pagodas and shrines), as kyaungtagas and kyaungamas (lay donors of monasteries), as dāyakas (donors) of the four re uisites to the Sangha, as ordinary bhikkhus and famed mahātheras (great elders) honoured for the extensiveness and pr ofundity of their learning.

This is the picture of the drifting that has occurred to beings in the infinitely long past Saµsāra, the round of rebirths.

# I Mindfulness of the Body before Tran uillity and Insight

If beings in this present life, therefore, fail to practise mindfulness of the body (kāyagatāsati) and thus continue to live without control over their minds, they will drift and founder in future sausEr a just as they have done in the past, even though they may be Buddhists. Absence of control over the mind is the certain path of drift in sausāra, because without control over the mind the work of tran uillity (samatha) and insight (vipassanā) cannot be undertaken. aining control of the mind is, on the other hand, the certain path to Nibbāna, because it enables the work of tran uillity and i nsight to be undertaken. The practice of mindfulness of the body is the effort to gain control of the mind.

Even though one is unable to undertake the higher work of tran uillity and insight, the Buddha said that if one can firmly control one s mind and keep it successfully at will within one s body, o ne enjoys the flavour of Nibbāna:

Those who have missed mindfulness of the body have missed Nibbāna. Those who have not missed mindfulness of the body have not missed Nibbāna.

Those who have not utili ed mindfulness of the body have not utili ed Nibbāna.

Those who have utili ed mindfulness of the body have utili ed Nibbāna.

Amataµ tesaµ viraddhaµ, yesaµ kāyagatā-sati viraddhŒ.

Amataµ tesaµ aviraddhaµ, yesaµ kāyagatā-sati aviraddhā.

Amataµ tesaµ aparibhuttaµ, yesam kāyagatā-sati aparibhuttā.

Amataµ tesaµ paribhuttaµ, yesaµ kāyagatā-sati paribhuttā.

A°guttara NikŒya, Ekaka nipŒta, Amata vagga

The essential meaning is that if one is established in mindfulness of the body, one can successfully undertake the work of tran uillity and insight, because one has firm control over one s mind a nd thus it is certain that in this very life one cannot miss Nibblena. If, however, like the madman, one has no control over one s mind because one continues to live apart from the work of mindfuln ess of the body, one is unable to approach the work of tran uillity and insight, and hence will mis s Nibbana.

There are many degrees of control over one s mind. In this world, ordinary persons who are not insane have sufficient control over their minds to perform their various day to day tasks, to fulfil both their individual and social responsibilities. This is one kind of control.

Within the Buddha sāsana, keeping the morality consisting of sense control (indriyasaµvara-s´la) is another kind of control. It is not, however, control that can be called dependable.

Establishing oneself in mindfulness of the body, being the proximate cause (pada hāna) of the meditative development of tran uillity and insight, is control that is firm. The attainment of acces s concentration (upacāra-samādhi), attained just before entering any of the jhānas, is control that is firmer. Firmer still is the attainment of absorption concentration (appanā-samādhi), attained during the jhānas. The attainment of the eight stages of absorption are controls that become progressively firmer as each higher stage is attained. In the matter of tran uillity, the attainment of the high er spiritual powers (abhi (Es)) represents the highest control.

This is the path of tran uillity called samatha-yEnika.

The path of insight is called vipassan@-y@nika.

Here ends the section showing that mindfulness of the body must precede the work of tran uill ity and insight.

### Why Mindfulness of Breathing Should Be Practised

Hence, people of the present day who have encountered the Buddha sæsana, whether lay or ordain ed, should abhor and fear the uncontrolled mind and should adopt and practise, as uickly as poss ible, one of the exercises in mindfulness of the body given in the Mahæsatipa hæna Sutta (MN 10) in order to gain secure control over their minds.

In the K@yagat@ sati Sutta (MN 119), eighteen exercises in mindfulness of the body are describ ed, namely, mindfulness of breathing (@n@p@nasati), mindfulness of the bodily postures and move ments (iriy@patha), clear comprehension of acts and deeds (sampaja—a), attention to the impuriti es of the body (pa ikkela), analysis of the elements (dh@tu-vavafeh@na), nine cemetery contempla tions (sivithik@), and the four jh@nas.

In the <code>EnEpEnasati</code> Sutta (MN 11 ), it is shown how the work of mindfulness of the body, and the four absorptions of tran uillity meditation (appane-jh@nas of samatha-bh@vane), insight meditation (vipassan-bh@vane), the development of the path (magga-bh@vane), and the realitation of the path (magga-bh@vane).

e fruit (phala-sacchikiriya) these last two being known as true knowledge and deliverance (vijj@-vimutti) are accomplished by the practise of mindfulness of breathing alone.

It is also usual for all Buddhas to attain Supreme Enlightenment by means of mindfulness of breathing, and having attained Buddhahood, all Buddhas have continued to remain established in mindfulness of breathing without a break until they attained Parinibblena.

Of the forty prescribed exercises of tran uillity meditation, mindfulness of breathing is the easi est to establish continuously at all times. The Buddha also extolled this meditation subject more h ighly than he did other subjects. The commentators too called <code>EnEpEnasati</code> the plane of great per sonages (mah@purisa-bhèmi). But mindfulness of breathing is not a meditation subject suitable f or ordinary persons. It is suited only to persons of great wisdom.

Hence I now propose to expound concisely the <code>EnEpEnasati</code> Sutta as found in the Majjhima Ni keya (MN 11), for the benefit of those wise people wishing to attain spiritual success and to reap the benefits offered by this rare encounter with a Buddha sesana, thus emulating the way of the a forementioned King Pukkuseti of Takkas la, who spent the rest of his life alone on the top storey of his seven storied palace practising meditation beginning with mindfulness of the body until he achieved the fourth jhāna.

# I Mindfulness of Breathing Leads to Nibbāna

O bhikkhus If mindfulness of breathing is cultivated and developed many times for a lengthy period, the four foundations of mindfulness are fulfilled and perfected.

If the four foundations of mindfulness are cultivated and developed many times for a lengthy period, the seven factors of enlightenment are fulfilled and perfected.

If the seven factors of enlightenment are cultivated and developed many times for a l engthy period, knowledge and deliverance are fulfilled and perfected.

Enāpānasati bhikkhave bhāvitā bahul kat catt ro satipa hāne parip renti. Cattāro satipa Eh Evit bahul kat satta bojjha ge paripèrenti. Satta bojjha ge bh Evit behul kat vijje vimutti paripèrenti.

ān@p@nasati Sutta, MN 11

Here, knowledge (vijj) means the four path knowledges (magga--Κa), and deliverance (vimu tti) the four fruition knowledges (phala--Œöa). The essential meaning is that if mindfulness of bre athing is practised assiduously for days and months, the work of the four foundations of mindfulness, the seven factors of enlightenment, and knowledge and deliverance is automatically accomplished. The four foundations of mindfulness, the seven factors of enlightenment, and knowledge and deliverance comprise the thirty seven aids to enlightenment (bodhipakkhiyadhammŒ), and hence it means that the thirty seven aids to enlightenment are automatically accomplished. This ends the exposition of the prefatory section of the anteptanasti Sutta.

### II Posture for Meditation

O bhikkhus In this Sāsana a bhikkhu, having gone to a forest, or to the foot of a tree, or to a uiet place, sits down cross legged with his upper body erect, keeping his attention firmly fixed on the object of meditation.

Idha pana bhikkhave bhikkhu ara—agato vŒ rukkha-

mèlagato vŒ su—agŒrŒgato vŒ nis´dati palla kaµ ŒbhujitvŒ ujum-kŒyaµ panidhŒya pari mukhaµ satiµ upaÉhapetvŒ.

Here, in the sutta, the Buddha says sits down cross legged because the cross legged posture is especially suitable for meditation. But any of the four postures diligently adopted will suffice. This ends the posture for meditation.

## III The First Tetrad

- (I) The yogi (one devoted to mental training) mindfully exhales an out breath, and mi ndfully inhales an in breath.<sup>4</sup>
- (II) When a long breath is exhaled, he knows that he exhales a long out breath. When a long breath is inhaled, he knows that he inhales a long in breath. When a short breath is exhaled, he knows that he exhales a short out breath. When a short breath is inhaled, he knows that he inhales a short in breath.
- (III) While exhaling, he tries to experience the entire out breath its beginning, middle, and end. While inhaling, he tries to experience the entire in breath its beginning, middle, and end.
- (I ) As he exhales, he tries to allay and calm down the out breath. As he inhales, he t ries to allay and calm down the in breath.
  - (I) So sato'va assasati sato'va passasati.
- (II) D´ghaµ vŒ assasanto d´ghaµ assasŒm´ti pajŒnŒti. D´ghaµ vŒ passasanto d´ghaµ passasŒm´ti pajŒnŒti. Rassaµ vŒ assasanto rassaµ assasŒm´ti pajŒnŒti. Rassaµ vŒ passasanto rassaµ passasŒm´ti pajŒnŒti.
- (III) Sabbak@yappa£isaµved´assasiss@m´ti sikkhati. Sabbak@yappa£i-saµved´passasiss@m´ti sikkhati.
- (I ) Passambhayaµ k@yasa kh@raµ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati. Passambhayaµ k@yasakh@raµ passasiss@m´ti sikkhati.

In the first stage, the attempt has to be made to keep the attention firmly fixed on the out breat h and the in breath.

In the second stage, the attempt has to be made to perceive the long and short out breath and in breath respectively as long and short.

In the third stage, the attempt has to be made to experience the entire out breath and in breath – the beginning, middle, and end.

In the fourth stage, the attempt has to be made to allay and calm down the out breaths and in b reaths until they become extremely gentle.

In the first stage, it is as yet not possible to perceive such details as the length of the out breath s and in breaths. In this stage, one has to keep one s attention on the tip of the nose or the upper lip, as the case may be, wherever the striking of the out breaths and in breaths can be clearly grasped, and the attempt must be made to be aware of every out breath and in breath that occurs. The a ttempt must be made for one or two hours, or for whatever length of time one is able to put forth e ffort, during which the attention must be firmly tied to the tip of the nose or the upper lip. The att empt must be persisted with until every out breath and in breath is perceived, without any breath escaping attention.

In the second stage, when the keeping of the attention on the out breaths and in breaths has been mastered, one has to attempt to perceive the long out breath and in breath as long, and the short out breath and in breath as short. Even during the space of one sitting, long as well as short breaths occur. Every long breath and every short breath must be perceived as such, and the perception must cover every breath, without missing even one out breath or one in breath. When the out breaths and in breaths are exhaled and inhaled slowly, they are long and when they are exhaled and inhaled uickly, they are short. Thus, perceiving the long and short out breaths and in breaths con sists of perceiving the slow and uick out breaths and in breaths.

In the third stage, when the perception of the long and short out breaths and in breaths has bee n mastered, every breath occurring within the body must be experienced in its entirety, right from its starting point within the body through its middle to the point where it ends within the body, the extremities of the breath (start or end as the case may be) being at the tip of the nose and at the n avel.

In the fourth stage, when the experiencing of every breath in its entirety has been mastered, the coarse or rough breaths must be calmed down and allayed by degrees, making them more and mo re gentle and delicate, until ultimately the stage is reached when one thinks that one s out breaths and in breaths have entirely disappeared.

## I The Method of the Commentary

In the Commentary (A hakathā) there are three main stages of effort, namely

- 1. Counting (ganan) attention is placed on the out breaths and in breaths by counting them.
- 2. Connection (anubandhan) attention is placed directly on the out breaths and in breaths and is made stronger and firmer, but the counting is discontinued.
- 3. Fixing (EhapanE) the effort is intensified until the higher stages of attainment are ac hieved.

There are two places where the out breath and in breath may be grasped the tip of the nose and the upper lip. For some people the striking of the breath is clearer at the tip of the nose for othe rs, it is clearer on the upper lip. Attention must be placed on the spot where the perception is clear est, which may be called the spot of touch. At the outset, effort must be made to keep the attention on the spot of touch by counting the number of times the out breath and in breath strike that spot. In the next stage, effort must be made to keep the attention on the out breath and in breath c ontinuously, without the aid of counting. Finally, effort is applied to make the attention stronger a nd firmer.

#### Counting

There are two methods of counting – slow and fast – accord

ing as the attention is weak or strong. In the beginning, the mind is untran uil and disturbed and t he attention weak, and thus one is not mindful of every breath that occurs. Some breaths escape d etection. Only those breaths that are clearly perceived with mindfulness are counted, while those t hat are not clearly perceived are left out of the reckoning. Counting thus progresses slowly. It is t he slow stage.

Counting is done in six turns (VEra). In the first, counting proceeds from one to five then, in the second, from one to six in the third, from one to seven in the fourth, from one to eight in the fifth, from one to nine and in the sixth, from one to ten. After the sixth turn, one must begin again from the first. Sometimes these six turns are counted as one.

First place the attention on the spot of touch, and when an out breath or in breath is clearly p erceived, count one. Continue counting two, three, four, etc., when the ensuing out breath s and in breaths are clearly perceived. If any of them are not clearly perceived, stop the progressive counting by continuing to count one, one, etc., until the next clear perception of out breath and in breath, when the counting advances to two. When the count reaches five in the f irst turn, start again from one. Proceed in this way until the sixth turn is completed. Since only tho se breaths that are clearly perceived are counted, it is called the slow count.

When the counting has been done repeatedly many times, the number of breaths that are clearly perceived will increase. The spacing between each progressive count will decrease. When every breath is clearly perceived the counting will progress uninterruptedly and become fast. One must proceed until no breath is missed out from the counting.

It is not necessary to do the counting orally a mental count is sufficient. Some people prefer to count orally. Others count one bead at the end of each sixth turn, and they resolve to count a cert ain number of rounds of beads a day. The essential thing is to make the perception clear and the at tention strong and firm.

#### Connection

When the stage is reached where every out breath and in breath is clearly perceived with the aid of counting, when no out breath or in breath escapes attention, the counting must be discontinuted, and the connection (anubandhant) method adopted. Here, the connection method means putting forth effort to keep the attention on the spot of touch, and to perceive every out breath and in breath without counting them. It means repeating the effort made in the counting stage in order to make perception clearer and attention stronger and firmer, but without the aid of counting.

How long is this effort by the connection method to be pursued Until there appears the palibh Ega-nimitta, the counterpart sign (i.e., a mental image that appears when an advanced degree of concentration is reached).

When attention becomes fixed on the out breaths and in breaths (i.e., when a certain degree of concentration is achieved), manifestations appear such as masses of fluffy wool, gusts of wind, cl usters of stars, gems, pearls, or strings of pearls, etc., in various shapes, groups, and colours. These are called counterpart signs. The effort in the connection method must be continued until such time as the counterpart sign appears clearly on every occasion that effort is made.

#### **Fixing**

During the stages of counting and connection, attention must still be kept on the point of touc h. From the time the counterpart sign appears, effort must be made according to the third stage, t he method of fixing (fhapant). Counterpart signs are manifestations and resemble new mental objects. Not being natural phenomena, they easily disappear, and once they disappear, it is difficult t o invoke them into sight again. Hence, when a counterpart sign appears, it is necessary to put fort

h special effort with added energy in fixing the attention on it to prevent it from disappearing one must strive to make it become clearer day by day. The putting forth of this special additional effort is known as the method of fixing.

When the stage of fixing is reached, the seven unsuitable things (asapp@ya see just below) must be shunned, while the seven suitable things (sapp@ya) must be cultivated. The ten kinds of proficiency in meditative absorption (dasa appan@kosalla), too, must be accomplished.

The seven unsuitable things are unsuitable (1) place, (2) village where almsfood is obtained, (3) talk, (4) friends and associates, (5) food, (6) climate, and (7) bodily postures these things are c alled unsuitable because they cause deterioration of one s meditation. The seven suitable things are the exact opposites the place, village, talk, friends, food, climate, and postures which cause o ne s meditation to improve.

The ten kinds of proficiency in meditative absorption are (1) cleanliness of body and utensils, (2) harmoni ing the five spiritual faculties (indriyas), (3) proficiency in the object of attention, (4) controlling the exuberant mind, (5) uplifting the depressed mind, (6) making the dry mind pleasa nt, (7) composure towards the balanced mind, (1) avoiding persons who do not possess concentration, (9) associating with persons who possess concentration, and (10) having a mind that is always bent towards meditative absorption.

E uipping and fulfilling oneself with these aforementioned ualities, one must make specially energetical efforts for days and months to fix one s attention on the counterpart sign so that it becomes firm. This effort of fixing the attention (thapant) must be put forth until the fourth jhana is attained.

### The Signs

I shall now show differentially the signs that appear during the three stages of effort, and the ty pes of concentration achieved during these stages.

The image of the out breath and in breath that appears in the stage of counting is called the pre paratory sign (parikamma-nimitta). In the stage of connection, it is called the ac uired sign (ugga ha-nimitta). The manifestation that appears in the stage of attention is called the counterpart sign (palibh@qa-nimitta).

The meditative concentration achieved during the appearance of the preparatory sign and ac ui red sign is preparatory concentration (parikamma-bh@van@-sam@dhi). The meditative concentration developed with the attention fixed on the counterpart sign during the stage of fixing but before the attainment of full absorption (appan@) is called access concentration (upac@ra-bh@van@-sam@dhi). The four jhānas are called concentration by absorption (appan@-bh@van@-sam@dhi).

In the counting and connection stages, the out breath and in breath the objects of meditation gradually become allayed and calm down. Ultimately they are apt to become so subtle that they seem to have disappeared altogether. When this occurs, one must continue to fix the attention on the point of touch and must attempt to grasp the out breath and in breath at that point. When the out breath and in breath are perceived again clearly, it will not be long before the counterpart sign appears, which signals that the access to jhāna (upac@ra-jh@na) has been attained. Here, upac@ra-jh@na means the access concentration of sense sphere meditation (k@m@vacara-bh@van@ upac@ra-sam@dhi) which has overcome the five hindrances (pa-can varana).

The calming down of the out breath and in breath to the point of disappearance, mentioned in the method given in the Commentary, occurs automatically and need not be specifically attempted. I have myself seen yogis in whom out breath and in breath have calmed down to the point of disappearance. In the sutta however, where it is said,  $\Diamond Passam$ -

bhayaµ k@yasa kh@raµ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, passam-

bhayaµ k@yasa kh@raµ passasiss@m'ti sikkhati,Ó the meaning is that when the stage of connectio

n is reached, the process of calming down the out breath and in breath must be specifically attempted.

When the out breath and in breath apparently disappear, people who are not proficient in the w ork of meditation are apt to think that the out breath and in breath have really disappeared or stop ped. Then they are apt to discard the work of meditation. Let all be heedful of this fact.

### The Commentary econciled with the Sutta

It is now necessary to reconcile the method given in the Commentary with the Anāpānasati Sutta. The counting stage, when the attention is fixed on the point of touch and the attempt is made to fix the attention on the breath by counting – this is the first stage of the first tetrad of the sutta. In this stage, the main work is to overcome the mind s habit of repeatedly wandering off from the object of attention to other objects, and it is for this purpose that the method of counting is adopte d. The time is not yet ripe for perceiving the long and short breaths, but in accordance with the text of the sutta, The yogi mindfully exhales an out breath, and mindfully inhales an in breath (Sat o va assasati, sato va passasati), effort must be confined to keeping the attention fixed on the out breath and in breath.

In this particular, the Commentary says

The sole function of counting is to cut short the wandering tendencies of the mind, ac uir ed in the long series of previous rebirths, that makes it stray from inside the body to outsi de objects, and to keep the attention firmly fixed on the internal objects of out breath and in breath (bahivisafavitakkavicchedaµ katvŒ assŒsapassŒs-Œrammane sati-sanfhapanatthaµ yeva hi gananŒ).

After the counting stage, when the connection stage is reached, effort must be put forth according to the second stage of the first tetrad, described thus in the text. When a long out breath is exhaled, he knows that he exhales a long out breath when a long in breath is inhaled, he knows that he inhales a long in breath (d'ghaµ vt assasanto d'ghaµ assasissam ti pajtnti, etc.). Here, attention has to be fixed on the spot of touch, and with the attention so fixed, the long and short breaths have to be perceived. In doing this, it is not necessary to trace the entire breath from beginning to end. All one must do, while keeping the attention fixed on the spot of touch, is to make an additional endeavour to be aware of the length of the breaths that brush the spot of touch. Long breaths brush the spot for a long period, while short breaths brush the spot for a short period. The mind can become extremely expansive, and thus one can be aware of the long breaths and short b reaths that go out and come in even while keeping one s attention steadily fixed on the spot of to uch.

When the long and short breaths have been clearly and distinctly perceived, effort has to be ma de to perceive the entire structure of each breath – the beginning, the middle, and the end – even while keeping the attention fixed on the spot of touch, in accordance with the sutta statement, While exhaling, he tries to perceive the entire out breath—its beginning, middle, and end while i nhaling, he tries to perceive the entire in breath—its beginning, middle, and end (sabbak@yappafisauved´ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, sabbak@yappafisauved´ passasiss@m´ti sikkhati).

When an out breath is released, it must not be done unmindfully, but one must be fully aware of it right from its start within the body and follow it along its course until it reaches its end within the body at the spot of touch, and it is with this added endeavour of being aware of it in its tot ality that the breath must be released. Similarly, when an in breath is inhaled, one must do so with awareness right from its start within the body at the spot of touch and follow it until it reaches its end at the navel within the body.

While thus following the out breaths and in breaths from beginning to end, the attention must be continually fixed on the spot of touch. The breaths must not be followed from beginning to end by allowing the attention to leave the spot of touch. If a resolute endeavour is made to follow the out breaths and in breaths without allowing the attention to leave the spot of touch, then, even while the attention continues to be fixed on the spot of touch, the form and shape of the out breaths and in breaths will gradually appear clearly in their entirety.

When the beginning, middle, and end of the out breaths and in breaths have been clearly perce ived, if the rough and coarse breaths do not become automatically calmed and allayed to the point of disappearance, then, in accordance with the text of the fourth section of the first tetrad of the sutta, where it is said. As he exhales, he tries to allay and calm down the out br eath as he inhales, he tries to allay and calm down the in breath (passambhayaµ k@yasa kh@raµ assasiss@m'ti sikkhati, passambhayaµ k@yasa kh@raµ passasiss@m'ti sikkhati), a special additional endeavour must be made to make them gentler and gentler, and this must be pursued with reso lution, not left unmindfully to take its own course.

In the method given in the Commentary, however, it is stated that the out breaths and in breath s become calmed down and allayed of their own accord even from the stage of counting, and in m y own experience, I have come across persons whose breaths have automatically disappeared.

In this particular, this is what the Commentary says

From the time of effort according to the method of counting, in due course, when through the coarse out breaths and in breaths becoming calmed down and allayed, the anxieties a nd cares of the body become tran uilli ed, both body and mind become light, and the phy sical body rises in space.

(GananŒ vase'eva pana manasikŒrakŒlato pabhuti anukkamato oÅŒrika-assŒsapassŒsa nirodhavasena kŒyadarathe vyupasante kŒyopi cittampi lahukaµ hoti. Sar´raµ ŒkŒse la ghanŒkŒrappattaµ viya hoti.)

I have known people whose bodies have risen about the height of four fingers breadth in the air.

When this stage is reached where the out breaths and in breaths disappear, then, without taking the attention off the spot of touch, an attempt must be made to perceive the disappeared out bre aths and in breaths. When they are perceived again clearly, the counterpart sign (palibh@ga-nimitt a) appears. At that stage, the mental hindrances such as fear, dread, sleepiness, indolence, etc., are overcome, and the access to jhāna is attained.

This ends the reconciliation between the Commentary and the napanasati Sutta.

This also ends the account of the counting, connection, and fixing (ganant, anubandhant, tha pant) methods of the Commentary, where seven stages are given, vi., counting connection, touching, fixing, observing, turning away, and purification (ganant, anubandhant, phusant, thapant, sallakkhant, vivatant, and ptrisuddhi).

The first tetrad is the main and essential stage. At the present day, if work in the first tetrad is s uccessfully accomplished, one can proceed to tran uillity (samatha) and insight (vipassant) as on e desires.

Here ends the first tetrad.

## I The Second Tetrad

I shall now show the second tetrad of the sutta which is to be attempted or practised in the fixing s tage, the stage of the full absorption or jhāna. The text states

- 1. Experiencing rapture, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.
- 2. Experiencing happiness, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.
- 3. Experiencing the mental functions, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.
- 4. Allaying and calming down the mental functions, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.
  - 1. P´tipa£isaµved´ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, p´tipa£isaµved´ passasiss@m´ti sikkhati.
  - 2. SukhapaÉisaµved´assasissŒm´ti sikkhati, sukhapaÉisaµved´passasissŒm´ti sikkhati.
- 3. Cittasa kh@raµ pafisaµved´ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, cittasa kh@raµ pafisaµved´ pas sasiss@m´ti sikkhati.
- 4. Passambhayaµ cittasa kh@raµ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, passambhayaµ cittasa kh@raµ passasiss@miti sikkhati.
- 1. What is meant by experiencing rapture (p´ti-patisaµved´) is putting forth effort, when the counterpart sign appears, until the first and second j hanas are attained, in which rapture (p´ti) predominates.
- 2. What is meant by experiencing happiness (sukha-palisaµved') is putting forth effort until the third jhāna is attained, in which happiness (sukha) predominates.
- 3. What is meant by experiencing the mental functions (cittasa kh@raµ pafisaµved') is putting forth effort until the fourth jhāna is attained, in which the mental function (citta-sa kh@ra) of e uanimous feeling (upekkh@vedan@) predominates.
- 4. What is meant by allaying and calming down the mental functions (passambhayaµ cittasa kh@raµ) putting forth effort to allay and calm down the coarse feelings (vedan@) and perceptions (sa——@).

The Commentary associates this tetrad with full absorption in jhāna, but the experience of rapt ure, joy, and calm is also associated with the access to jhāna (upacŒra-jhŒna), attained after the first appearance of the counterpart sign.

This ends the second tetrad.

## II The Third Tetrad

I shall now show the third tetrad of the sutta, which gives the practice when entering jhāna or full absorption.

- 1. Experiencing the mind (consciousness), I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains hi mself.
- 2. Making the mind extremely delighted, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains him self.
- 3. Making the mind extremely concentrated, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains h imself.

- 4. Freeing the mind (from the defilements, hindrances, etc.), I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.
  - 1. CittapaÉisaµved´assasissam´ti sikkhati, cittapaÉisaµved´passasissŒm´ti sikkhati.
- 2. Abhippamodayaµ cittaµ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, abhippamodayaµ cittaµ passasiss@mit´sikkhati.
- 3. Sam $\mathbb{E}$ daha $\mu$  citta $\mu$  assasiss $\mathbb{E}$ m´ti sikkhati, sam $\mathbb{E}$ daha $\mu$  citta $\mu$  passasiss $\mathbb{E}$ m´ti sikkhati.
  - 4. Vimocayaµ cittaµ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, vimocayaµ cittaµ passasiss@m´ti sikkhati.
- 1. Perceiving the mind (citta-palisaµved) means entering the four jhānas repeatedly in order to make the perception of the mind extremely clear.
- 2. Making the mind extremely delighted (abhip-pamodayaµ cittaµ) means that when the perception of the mind is extremely clear, one makes the mind extremely delighted by repeatedly entering the first and second jhānas (which are associated with rapture, p´ti).
- 3. Making the mind extremely concentrated (sam@dahaµ cittaµ) means that when the mind is extremely delighted, one makes the mind extremely concentrated by entering the third and fourt h ihānas.
- 4. Freeing the mind (vimocayaµ cittaµ) means freeing the mind of obstacles by repeatedly e ntering the four jhānas.

The Commentary associates this tetrad too with jhānic absorption, though it contains practices associated with the access to jhāna as well. This ends the third tetrad.

## III The Fourth Tetrad

I shall now show the fourth tetrad which gives the method of proceeding from mindfulness of bre athing to insight (vipassanE).

- 1. Anicc@nupass´assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, anicc@nupass´passasiss@m´ti sikkhati.
- Vir@@nupass´assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, vir@g@nupass´passasiss@m´ti sikkhati.
- 3. Nirodh@nupass´assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, nirodh@nupass´passasiss@m´ti sikkhati.
- 4. Palinissagg@nupass´assasiss@m´ti sikkhati, palinis-

sagg@nupass´ passasiss@m´ti sikkhati.

- 1. Contemplating impermanence, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.
- 2. Contemplating detachment, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.
- 3. Contemplating cessation, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.
- 4. Contemplating abandonment, I will exhale and inhale, thus he trains himself.

The way to proceed to insight (vipassan(E)) will be dealt with later (see II).

I
How the Foundations of Mindfulness are Fulfilled

The Buddha said that those who accomplish mindfulness of breathing also fulfil the function of the four foundations of mindfulness (Satipalfh@nas). I shall here give just the essential meaning.

In the four tetrads dealt with above, effort in the first tetrad, which includes the counting and c onnection methods (ganant, anubandhant), consists entirely of the application of mindfulness to contemplation of the body (ktytenupassant satipatthena). Out breath and in breath, being part of the corporeality group (rèpa-ktya), are called body (ktya). Thus the nāpānasati Sutta says, This is a certain body among the different kinds of bodies, namely, out breath and in breath (ktyesu ktya—atarthau bhikkhave etau vadtmi yadidau asstsapasstst).

Effort in the second tetrad consists of the application of mindfulness to contemplation of feelings (vedan@nupassan@satipa@h@na). The text says, This is a certain feeling among the different k inds of feelings, namely, this mental advertence to out breath and in breath done thoroughly and well (vedan@su vedana—atar@hap bhikkhave etap vad@mi, yad idap ass@sapass@s@nap s@dhukap manasik@ro). Thoroughly and well (s@dhukap) indicates the special endeavour that is re ui red in experiencing rapture (p~tippa@isapved~), etc. Here, while attention continues to be placed on the out breath and in breath, effort is made to clearly perceive the feelings with wisdom, and thus work in the second tetrad is called the application of mindfulness to contemplation of feelings.

Work in the third tetrad consists of the application of mindfulness to contemplation of mind (Ci ttEnupassanE sati-

palthena). Here also, while attention continues to be placed on the out breath and in breath, effort is made to clearly perceive the mind with wisdom.

Work in the fourth tetrad, such as contemplation of imper

manence (anicc@nupass'), is the application of mindfulness to contemplation of mind objects (dh amm@nupassan@sati-

palthlena). Here again, while attention continues to be placed on the out breath and in breath, effort is made to clearly perceive the overcoming of such unwholesome states as covetousness (abhijj hle) and grief (domanassa) with wisdom. The sutta says, Seeing thoroughly with wisdom that which is the overcoming of covetousness and grief, he takes good care of it (yo ya\mu abhijjhledomana ssena\mu pahlena\mu, ta\mu pa—eya disve sedhuka\mu ajjhupekkhite hoti). Because such things (dham ma) as impermanence are contemplated together with the out breath and in breath, it is also proper to call it the application of mindfulness to contemplation of mind objects.

### How the Enlightenment Factors are Fulfilled

I shall now show how a person who fulfils mindfulness of breathing also fulfils the seven factors of enlightenment (bojjha gas).

Since the work of mindfulness of breathing consists of making mindfulness (sati) firmer and st ronger every day, it amounts to practising the enlightenment factor of mindfulness (sati-sambojjh a ga). Says the sutta When, to a yogi practising mindfulness of breathing, mindfulness become s firm, and there is no moment when he is without mindfulness, then the enlightenment factor of mindfulness is accomplished.

The progress the person practising mindfulness of breathing makes in developing wisdom, and in discerning the various phenomena associated with that practice, is the enlightenment factor of investigation of phenomena (dhammavicaya-sambojiha qa).

The progress of energy in the work of mindfulness of breathing is the development of the enlig htenment factor of energy (viriya-sambojjha ga).

When the stage of experiencing rapture (p´tipali-

saµved') is reached, the progressive development of rapture is the development of the enlightenm ent factor of rapture (p'ti-sambojjha ga).

When rapture is attained in the work of mindfulness of breathing, the disturbing states of indol ence and torpor become allayed and calmed the progressive development of this calming down is the development of the enlightenment factor of calmness (passadhi-sambojjha ga).

When calmness develops, concentration (sam@dhi) develops this is the enlightenment factor of concentration (sam@dhi-sambojjha ga).

When concentration develops, there is no longer any occa

sion for anxiety and concern arising out of an inattentive mind, and thus the enlightenment factor of e uanmity is developed (upekkhŒ-sambojjha ga).

The sutta shows in detail how the seven factors of enlight enment become accomplished by accomplishing each of the four foundations of mindfulness.

## How Knowledge and Deliverance are Achieved

To show how to proceed from mindfulness of breathing to insight, path knowledge, and fruition k nowledge (vipassant, magga--tan, phala--tan), the Buddha said in the î nāpānasati Sutta

O bhikkhus, how must the seven factors of enlightenment be developed and much practis ed in order to accomplish knowledge and deliverance O bhikkhus, in this Sāsana, a bhik khu develops and cultivates the enlightenment factor of mindfulness ..... the enlightenment factor of e uanimity, which is dependent on (or bent on) Nibbāna, which is secluded from the defilements, where the passions are absent, where the defilements cease, where the defilements are relin uished. It is in this way that the seven factors of enlightenment must be developed and cultivated to accomplish knowledge and deliverance.

Kathaµ bhŒvitŒ ca bhikkhave satta bojjha gŒ kathaµ bahulikatŒ vijjŒvimuttiµ paripè renti? Idha bhikkhave bhikkhu sati-sambojjha gaµ ...... upekkhŒ-sambojjha gaµ bhŒveti vivekanissitaµ virŒga-

nissitaµ nirodhanissitaµ vosaggaparin@miµ. Evaµ bh@vit@ kho bhikkhave satta sambojj ha g@ evaµ bahulikat@ vijj@vimuttiµ paripèrenti.

Seclusion, dispassion, cessation, and relin uishment (viveka, virŒga, nirodha, vossagga) are all names for Nibbāna. Practising with the aim of achieving Nibbāna in this very life, is what is m eant by vivekanissita (dependent on seclusion), etc. It is also called vivaffanissita., dependent on the ending of the round. If effort be made merely to ac uire merit, it is vaffanissita, dependent on the round (of existence).

If one practises according to the counting method, the connection method, and the fixing meth od (whereby one gains access to jhāna (upac@ra-jh@na) and full absorption (appan@-jh@na)), one achieves the four foundations of mindfulness and the seven factors of enlightenment. But if one does so with inclination towards the deva and brahma existences after death, the seven factors of enlightenment become dependent on the round. If one stops short with the attainment of access, absorption, and contemplation of impermanence, one is liable to become inclined towards dependence on the round. Hence the words which is secluded from the defilements, where the passions are absent, where the defilements cease, where the defilements are relin uished (vivekanissitaµ, vir@qanissitaµ, nirodhanissitaµ, vosaqqaparin@maµ), emphasi e the need to put forth effort wit

h a view to attaining the ending of the round in this very life, and not stopping short with such att ainments as access to jhāna and absorption. The ending of the round (vivalla) means Nibbāna.

At the present day, people within the Buddha-sāsana have the opportunity to work towards the attainment of Nibbāna, the ending of the round, and hence they should concentrate with all their might to reach this attainment. It is because they desire this ending of the round that they must strive towards true knowledge and deliverance (VijjŒ-vimutti). And, in order to achieve knowledge and deliverance, they must set up the seven factors of enlightenment (satta bojjha ga). In order to set up the seven factors of enlightenment, they must set up the four foundations of mindfulness (Cattero satipafehena). In order to set up the four foundations of mindfulness, they have to undertake the work of mindfulness of breathing (Enepenasati). If mindfulness of breathing, the four foundations of mindfulness, the seven factors of enlightenment, and the two states of true knowledge and deliverance are accomplished, the thirty seven aids to enlightenment (bodhipakkhiye dhamme) are also accomplished. This is the condensed meaning of the Anāpānasati Sutta.

The way to achieve this true knowledge and deliverance speedily is no other than what has been shown in the fourth tetrad, where it is said he trains to contemplate impermanence as he exhale and inhales, etc. (anicc@nupass´ assasiss@m´ti sikkhati). If after the seven factors of enlightenment are set up, the knowledge and deliverance of the path and fruit of the stream winner (sot@patti-magga phala) are achieved, one can attain, in this very life, the ending of the round of Nibbān a with the groups of existence still remaining (sa-up@disesa-nibb@na), where wrong views (diffhi) and doubts (vicikicch@) cease, and deliverance is obtained from unwholesome conduct (duccarita), evil livelihood (dur@jva), and liability to rebirth in the world of misery (ap@ya loka i.e., rebirth as an animal, an unhappy spirit, or in hell).

## II How To Proceed To ipassanā

I shall now show concisely the work of the fourth tetrad.

#### When Can One Proceed to ipassanā

As the Anāpānasati Sutta and its Commentary explain the order of practice in mindfulness of b reathing, one is to take up work in the fourth tetrad only after one has attained the four jhānas. If o ne can adhere strictly to this order of practice, that is ideal, but if one cannot follow this se uence one may proceed to vipassant, or insight, from the third jhāna. It is also permissible to proceed to vipassant from the second jhāna, or from the first, or from the access stage prior to full attainment of jhāna, or from the connection stage, or even from the counting stage after one has overcome the wandering tendencies of the mind.

#### Two Methods

One may proceed to vipassan@ while still keeping the atten tion on the out breath and in breath, or one may treat the mindfulness of breathing as preparatory work and then proceed to vipassan@ by taking any portion of the five aggregates (pa-cakkhandh@) one wishes as the object of attention.

In the Anāpānasati Sutta that is dealt with here, in accordance with the passage, he trains in contemplating impermanence, and thus he exhales and inhales (anicc@nupass´ assasiss@m´ti sikkha ti, etc.), the method given associates the work of insight meditation directly with mindfulness of breathing. The point of the text is that, when one breathes in and out, one must do so while makin

g a special endeavour to advert to their impermanent nature and to clearly perceive that impermanent nature.

### From the Counting and Connection Stages

In these two stages, the work consists solely of keeping the attention on the out breaths and in breaths and perceiving them with wisdom. Hence, if one wishes to proceed to vipassan@ from the se stages, the effort must be based on corporeal phenomena (repa dhamma).

#### From the Fixing Stage

At the level of access concentration (upac@ra-sam@dhi), there are two stages contemplation of feeling (vedan@nu-

passan®) and contemplation of mind (citt®nupassana). The second tetrad (wherein it is said, exp eriencing rapture ....... experiencing joy ) is the contemplation of feeling stage. The third tetrad ( wherein it is said, experiencing the mind ..... ) is the contemplation of mind stage. If one wants t o proceed to vipassan® from the contemplation of feeling stage, the effort must be based on the m ental phenomenon (n®ma-dhamma) of feeling (vedan®). If one wishes to proceed from the conte mplation of mind stage, the effort must be based on the mental phenomenon of mind (citta). If on e wishes to proceed from the level of full absorption (appan®-sam®dhi), the effort can be based ei ther on feeling or mind, or on any of the jhāna characteristics of the jhāna that one has attained.

### ipassanā based on Corporeal Phenomena

When effort in the counting stage is accomplished, instead of proceeding next to the connection stage, one must proceed to the stage of insight into impermanence (anicca-vipassant) in accordance with the text, he trains to contemplate impermanence, and thus he exhales and inhales (anicctinupass assasisstem ti sikkhati, etc.).

The momentary concentration (khanika sam@dhi) which one achieved in the counting stage mu st be treated as access concentration (upac@ra-sam@dhi). A person who wants to practise vipassan @ being an ordinary human being, may not find it possible to put forth effort twenty four hours a day. He must therefore allocate three or four hours a day and put forth effort punctually and regul arly every day. When he starts to practise, he must first overcome the wandering tendencies of the mind and establish mindfulness on the breath. It is only after he has overcome the mind s wandering tendencies that he can direct the mind towards vipassan@. He must not relin uish mindfulness of the breathing, but must remain estab

lished in it until he achieves insight and attains knowledge of the path and fruit (magga--Ena and phala--Ena). Even when he enters fruition, he must treat mindfulness of breathing as access conc entration.

### Five Stages of Purity (visuddhi)

In the path of vipassanE, there are five stages of purity (i) purity of view (diffhi-visuddhi), (ii) purity of escape from doubts (ka khEvitarana-visuddhi), (iii) purity of wisdom distinguishing the real path from the false path (maggEmagga-

-Enadassana-visuddhi) (iv) purity of wisdom in the practice (palipadE-Enadassana-visuddhi), and (v) purity of wisdom (-Enadassana-visuddhi).

### Purity of iew in regard to Corporeal Phenomena (diffhiavisuddhi in ràna)

(diffhi-visuddhi in rèpa)

I shall now show how purity of view (diffhi-visuddhi) in corporeal phenomena (rèpa-dhamma) is achieved.<sup>7</sup>

In the corporeal phenomena of out breath and in breath, there are always present eight corpore al elements earth (palhavi), water (lepo), fire (tejo), wind (vleyo), colour (vanna), odour (gandha), taste (rasa), and nutriment (ojle). When sound is produced, it contains nine elements, the additional element being sound (sadda). Among all these elements, the basic elements are earth, water, fire, and wind.

The earth element (palhav'-dhltu) is the functional uality of hardness. In all corporeal pheno mena there exists this basic uality of hardness. In those things in which the earth element predo minates, the uality of hardness can be touched or felt, but not in such things as sunbeams and mo onbeams. Its existence, however, can be logically reali ed. For example, how can the water eleme nt bind if there is nothing solid to bind How can the fire element burn if there is nothing solid to burn How can the wind element produce motion if there is nothing solid to push

In the corporeal groups of the out breath and in breath, the binding function that causes the gro uping is that of the water element. The heat and cold in the groups are caused by the fire element. Motion is caused by the wind element. In out breath and in breath, it is the wind element that pre dominates. If one can appreciate the existence of these four primary elements in out breath and in breath, then one can appreciate their existence in the whole body, and in pursuance of that appreciation, if one can penetrate and perceive their existence in out breath and in breath, then one can a lso penetrate and perceive them in the whole body.

In ultimate reality, there exist in the out breath and in breath only these four primary elements of earth, water, fire, and wind. It is when the eye of wisdom penetrates and perceives these primar y elements that one can be said to perceive reality. If the perception does not penetrate far enough and fails to reach these four elements, but stops short at such things as the shape and form of the out breaths and in breaths, then one is still on the path of personality view (sakk@ya-diffhi), according to which The beginning of the out breath is at the navel. Its end is at the tip of the nose. It originates once at the beginning. It disappears once at the end. There is no repeated origination and disappearance in the middle. Similarly for the in breath. This is the belief that is firmly and de eply rooted in the minds of worldlings (puthujjana). One must rid oneself of this deep and firm root in the perception of one s body by ridding oneself of it in the out breaths and in breaths.

The way to rid oneself of it is as follows When the eye of wisdom penetrates to these four pri mary elements and the ultimate reality is perceived, such things as shape and form in the out brea th and in breath disappear, and every time one contemplates them, the deep and firm root of perso nality view disappears. One perceives that there is in reality no shape and form – no out breath an d in breath. One perceives that there exist only the four primary elements. Thus purity of view (di £thi-visuddhi) is achieved.

It is the same with respect to the other parts of the body such as head hairs, body hairs, etc. Th ere exists, on the one hand, the deeply rooted habitual perception of shape and form, such as, Thi s is head hair, and on the other, there exist the four primary elements. When these four primary elements are penetrated and clearly perceived with wisdom in the head hairs, the deeply rooted wr ong perception of shape and form will disappear. It will be perceived that the head hairs do not ex ist in reality. When it is thus seen, purity of view in the head hairs is achieved. Proceed in the sam e way in the case of the other parts of the body such as body hairs, etc.

This ends purity of view regarding corporeal phenomena.

### Purity of iew in regard to Mental Phenomena

(diÊÊhi-visuddhi in n@ma)

There is the mind that adverts to the objects of out breath and in breath. There is the mind that adverts towards the four primary elements. There are attributes of that mind such as mindfulness, energy, and knowledge (Sati, viriya, —Ena). These are all mental elements (nEma-dhŒtu). The func

tion of knowing the objects is the mind (citta). That of attending to them again and again is mindf ulness. That of putting forth effort is energy. That of proficiency is knowledge.

Thinking and perceiving, I shall advert my mind towards out breath and in breath, is the work of the deeply rooted view in the mind. One must overcome this deeply rooted view. How The advertence to out breath and in breath is a functional element — a mental element. When that element appears in the mental organ, advertence towards out breath and in breath occurs. It is a purely mental functional element. It is not corporeal. It is not the function of the aggregate of corporeality. It is not an entity or being. It is not the function of a being. It is not an I, nor is it the function of an I. It is an element which, in the Abhidhamma, is called citta, or vi—Ena, or nEma. It is the us that one must try to perceive. Let it not be confused and mixed up with the aggregate of corporeality, or taken as a being or I. When it is clearly perceived thus, purity of view in a mental element is achieved, and when purity of view in mind is achieved, it is also achieved in the other me ntal elements of mindfulness, energy, and knowledge.

This ends purity of view in mental phenomena. This also ends the explanation of purity of view.

### Purity of Escape from Doubt

(ka kh@vitarana-visuddhi)

When the functions of the five elements consisting of the four corporeal elements and one element of mind are pene

trated and perceived with wisdom, effort must be made to achieve the wisdom of purity of escape from doubt (ka kh@vitarana-visuddhi--@na). This wisdom is achieved by attaining the wisdom w hich discerns dependent origination (paficca-samupp@da--@na).

Ka khl means vicikicch (doubt). In the infinitely long saus ( there are many wrong views and wrong theories about the functions of the five elements mentioned above to which beings sub scribe. These beings lean towards these wrong views and wrong theories, such as belief in self and permanence, because they do not know the dependent origination of the corporeal and mental elements. This is ordinary doubt. Perplexity regarding the sixteen points mentioned in the suttas, such as Have I not existed in the past (ahosiµ nu kho ahaµ at tamaddh ( naµ), etc., are special kinds of doubt (see MN Sutta No. 2).

Of the four kinds of corporeal elements that exist within the body, there are some that are caused by kamma others that are caused by mind (citta) still others that are caused by temperature (U tu) and still others that are caused by nutriment (EhEra). These four causes of corporeal phenome na must be known.

Within the body, there are corporeal phenomena caused by kamma that are incessantly arising without a moment s break like the continuous flow of a river. There are also corporeal phenomen a caused by mind that are thus continuously arising. Similarly, there are also corporeal phenomen a caused by changes in temperature, and corporeal phenomena caused by the nutriment that is ing ested.

In the case of the mind element, there are occasions of mind arising in dependence on particula r objects of thought (such as out breath and in breath), each particular thought being connected w ith and dependent on each particular out breath and in breath as the case may be, like the connection and dependency of shadows and reflection on sunlight.

This shows concisely the dependent origination of the five basic elements. If this dependent origination can be reali ed with wisdom, purity of escape from doubt is accomplished. The views of self and permanence will be overcome.

This ends the discussion of purity of escape from doubt.

#### Conclusion

Thus there are five basic elements earth, water, fire, wind, and mind. There are four causes of the corporeal elements kamma, mind, temperature, and nutriment. There are two causes of mental elements external sense objects and internal sense organs. Differentiating them into corporeal and mental phenomena, these things, together with their arising and disappearance, must be repeatedly discerned by applying the three characteristics (lakkhana) impermanence, suffering, and selfle ssness. For example, corpor

eality is impermanent in the sense of being subject to decay suffering in the sense of being fearful and not self in the sense of being without substance (rèpaµ aniccaµ khaya£-

Éhena, dukkhaµ bhayaÉhena, anattŒ asŒrakaÉhena). One must contemplate them thus until they are perceived with wisdom. Thus one must put forth effort for insight.

This shows concisely how to proceed to vipassan@according to the formula Contemplating i mpermanence, I will exhale and inhale (anicc@nupass´assasiss@m´ti sikkhati), etc. as given in the fourth tetrad of the Anāpānasati Sutta.

Another way is to view one s own corporeal and mental phenomena as one ordinarily knows th em until one penetrates and perceives them with wisdom, treating the attention on out breath and in breath as access concentration. Here, Upa-

CEra or access may be explained as follows When a yogi begins to put forth effort, he must first c oncentrate and tran uilli e his mind, and he views out breath and in breath for this purpose. He f ollows this procedure on every occasion that he puts forth effort. This prior concentration and tran uil

li ation is the business of access concentration. It is only after the mind has been concentrated an d tran uilli ed that one may proceed to view whatever part of the body one desires.

This shows concisely how to proceed to vipassan@ from the counting stage. More detailed exp ositions may be found in my Oh@ra D´pan´ (Manual of Nutriment) and Anatta D´pan´ (Manual of Non Self).

When proceeding to vipassan@ from the connection stage, or from the access concentration of the fixing stage, or from the full absorption of the first, second, third, and fourth jhānas of the fixing stage, the method may be gathered from what has been shown in the case of the counting stage.

As regards the three remaining purities, the ten kinds of insight knowledge (vipassan@—@na), a nd the knowledge of the path and fruit of stream winning (sot@patti-magga- and phala-—@nas), se e the Kammaffh@na (Meditation Subject) section of my Paramattha Sa khitta (Summary of the U ltimate).

This ends the concise exposition of the meditation subject of mindfulness of breathing, as give n in the Anāpānasati Sutta and its Commentary.

This ends the Antptna D´pan´, the Manual of Mindfulness of Breathing.

A Short Biography of
The enerable Mahāthera Ledi Sayadaw,
Aggamāhapanlita, D. Litt.

Known to scholars of many countries, the enerable Ledi Sayadaw, Aggam@hapanita, D. Litt., w as perhaps the outstanding Buddhist figure of this age. With the increase in interest in Buddhism in Western lands, there is a great demand for his Buddhist discourses and writings.

Bhikkhu Nyāna, who was later known as Ledi Sayadaw, was born on Tuesday, the 13th waxin g of Nattaw, 120 B.E. (1 46 C.E.) at Saing pyin illage, Dipeyin Township, Shwebo District. H is parents were U Tun Tha and Daw Kyone. Early in life he was ordained a novice and at the age of twenty a bhikkhu, under the patronage of Salin Sayadaw U Panlicca. He received his monastic education under various teachers and later was trained in Buddhist literature by the enerable Sa nkyaung Sayadaw, Sudassana Dhaja Atul@dhipati S´ripavara Mah@dhamma R@j@dhir@jaguru of Mandalay.

He was a bright student. It was said of him About 2000 students attended the lectures deliver ed daily by the enerable Sankyaung Sayadaw. One day the enerable Sayadaw set in Pāli twent y uestions on the p@ram´ (perfections) and asked all the students to answer them. None except B hikkhu Nyāna could answer those uestions satisfactorily. He collected all these answers and wh en he attained fourteen years (vassa) as a bhikkhu, while still at San kyaung monastery, he publis hed his first book, P@ram´ D´pan´ (Manual of the Perfections).

During the reign of King Theebaw he became a Pāli lecturer at Mahā otikārāma Monastery in Mandalay. A year after the capture of King Theebaw, i.e., in 1 7 C.E., he moved to a place nort h of Monywa Town, where he established a monastery under the name of Ledi tawya Monastery. He accepted many bhikkhu students from various parts of Burma and imparted Buddhist education to them. In 1 97 C.E. he wrote in Pāli Paramattha D´pan´ (Manual of Ultimate Truths), a commentary on the Abhidhammattha-sa gaha.

Later, he toured many parts of Burma for the purpose of propagating the Buddha Dhamma. In t he towns and villages he visited he delivered various discourses on the Dhamma and established Abhidhamma classes and meditation centres. He composed Abhidhamma rhymes or Abhidhamm a summaries and taught them to his Abhidhamma classes. In some of the principal towns he spent a rains retreat imparting Abhidhamma and inaya education to the lay devotees. Some of the Le di Meditation Centres still exist and are still famous. During his life he wrote many essays, letters, poems, and manuals in Burmese. He has written more than seventy manuals, of which seven hav e been translated into English and published in The Light of the Dhamma. Vipassan (M anual of Insight) was translated by his disciple Sayadaw U Nyāna, Patthamagyaw. Palth@nuddesa D'pan' (A concise exposition of the Buddhist Philosophy of elations) was originally written in Pāli and translated by Sayadaw U Nyāna. Niy@ma D´pan´ (Manual of Cosmic Order) was translat ed by U Nyāna and Dr Barua and edited by Mrs hys Davids. Samm@dilthi D´pan´ (Manual of i ght Understanding) and Catusacca D´pan´ (Manual of the Four Noble Truths) and Alin-Kyan (An Exposition of Five Kinds of Light), translated in part only, were all translated by the editors of T he Light of the Dhamma. Bodhipakkhiya D´pan´ (Manual of the Factors Leading to Enlightenme nt) was translated by U Sein Nyo Tun, I.C.S. (etd.) and Magga ga D´pan´ (Manual of the Const ituents of the Noble Path) was translated by U Saw Tun Teik, B.A., B.L., and revised and edited b y the English Editorial Board of the Union Buddha Sāsana Council.

He was awarded the title of Aggamah@pandita by the overnment of India in 1911 C.E. Later, the University of angoon conferred on him the degree of D. Litt. (Honoris Causa). In his later y ears he settled down at Pyinmana where he died in 1923 C.E. at the ripe age of 77.

#### **Notes**

1. These are eight precepts to abstain from (1) killing, (2) stealing, (3) sexual misconduct, (4) false speech, (5) malicio us speech, (6) harsh speech, (7) idle chatter, and ( ) to live by right livelihood. They are sometimes undertaken by m ore earnest practitioners in place of the usual Five Precepts.

- 2. The eight inopportune occasions (akkhana) At the time a Buddha sāsana exists one has been reborn (1) in hell, (2) a s an animal, (3) in the realm of ghosts, (4) among the formless gods, (5) in a remote country where the Dhamma is n ot known, (6) as one who holds wrong views, or (7) as one mentally deficient or ( ) one is reborn with all the right c onditions but at a time when the Buddha sāsana does not exist. See Digha Nikāya III 264–65, 2 7.
- 3. According to the Majjhima Nikāya Commentary, King Pukkusāti actually left his palace and became ordained as a n ovice monk. His meeting with the Buddha is related at Majjhima Nikāya No. 140. He died in an accident before he c ould take higher ordination.
- 4. For some reason, Ledi Sayadaw (or his translator) follows the ancient inaya Commentary (no longer extant) which explains assEsa and its verb assasati as meaning breathing out, and passEsa and its verb passasati as meaning bre athing in. The Sutta Commentaries explain the words in the opposite way, which seems much more cogent (see is uddhimagga, III 164). Those accustomed to the usual translation, and the practice which counts a full breath as beg inning with the in breath and ending with the out breath, should simply transpose the two phases as given here.
- 5. At ism III 1 9, eight stages are mentioned. Of those not elaborated by Ledi Sayadaw, touching is simply the to uch spot at the nostrils or upper lip where the breath is to be noted observing is insight meditation turning away, the supramundane path (of stream entry, etc.) purification, the fruit. The eighth, not explicitly mentioned here, is looking back at these (tesau patipassant), explained as reviewing knowledge (paccavekkhant).
- 6. These are explained in detail at ism III- II.
- 7. Purity of view is defined as the correct seeing of mental and corporeal phenomena (nEma-rèpa), which one accomplishes by discerning these phenomena by way of their characteristic, function, manifestation, and proximate cause. See ism III 2–4.
- . These eight are called the inseparable corporeal phenomena (avinibbhoga-rèpa) because they occur together in every material body.
- 9. See ism I 1-2.

### **Appendix**

Below are some of the ikās, manuals, essays and letters written by the enerable Ledi Sayadaw.

In PŒli

- 1. Paramattha Dipani (Manual of Ultimate Truths) or Abhidhammattha sa gaha Mahāttikā.
- 2. Nirutti Dipani or uttimoggallāna ttikā.
- 3. Anu dipani.
- 4. ibhatyattha ttikā.
- 5. accavācaka ttikā.
- 6. Sāsanasampatti Dipani.
- 7. Sāsanavipatti Dipani.
  - Patthānuddesa Dipani.
- 9. Sammāditthi Dipani.
- 10. London Pāli Devi uestions and Answers.
- 11. Exposition of Buddhism for the West.
- 12. Padhāna Sutta (Pāli and word for word meanings).
- 13. Anattavibhāvanā.
- 14. amaka Pucchā issajjanā.
- 15. Niyāma Dipani.
- 16. ipassanā Dipani.

#### In Burmese

- 17. pa Dipani (Manual of Material ualities).
- 1 . Lakkhana Dipani (Manual of Characteristics of Existence).
- 19. Pārami Dipani (Manual of Perfections).

- 20. ijjāmagga Dipani (Manual of the Way to the Holy Path Knowledge).
- 21. Nibbāna Dipani (Manual of Nibbāna).
- 22. Mahāsayana Dipani (Manual of reat Lying Down).
- 23. Uttamapurisa Dipani (Manual of the eal Superman).
- 24. Patticcasamuppāda Dipani (Manual of Dependent Origination).
- 25. Ahāra Dipani (Manual of Nutritive Essence).
- 26. Anatta Dipani (Manual of Non Self).
- 27. Anatta Dipani (New).
- 2 . Kammatthāna Dipani (Manual of Meditation Subjects).
- 29. Anāpāna Dipani (Manual of Mindfulness of Breathing).
- 30. Catusacca Dipani (Manual of the Four Noble Truths).
- 31. Bodhipakkhiya Dipani (Manual of the Factors Leading to Enlightenment).
- 32. Somanassupekkhā Dipani (Manual of oy and E uanimity).
- 33. Bhāvanā Dipani (Manual of Mental Concentration).
- 34. Sukumāra Dipani.
- 35. Saccattha Dipani.
- 36. Sāsanadāyajja Dipani.
- 37. ogantara Dipani.
- 3 . Dhamma Dipani.
- 39. Dānādi Dipani.
- 40. Magganga Dipani (Manual of the Constituents of the Noble Path).
- 41. onasurā Dipani.
- 42. Niyāma Dipani (Manual of Cosmic Order).
- 43. Silavinicchaya Dipani.
- 44. irati silavinicchaya Dipani.
- 45. Inaparibhoga vinicchaya Dipani.
- 46. Dighāsana vinicchaya Dipani.
- 47. Asankhāra Sasankhāra vinicchaya Dipani.
- 4 . Sikkhā gahana vinicchaya Dipani.
- 49. Cetiyangana vinicchaya Dipani.
- 50. Upasampadā vinicchaya Dipani.
- 51. Decision on jivatthamaka Sila.
- 52. Decision on ikālabhojana sikkhāpada.
- 53. Sarana gamana vinicchaya Dipani.
- 54. Paramattha Sankhitta.
- 55. inaya Sankhitta.
- 56. Sadda Sankhitta.
- 57. Alphabets Sankhitta.
- 5 . Prosody Sankhitta.
- 59. Alankā Sankhitta.
- 60. Spelling Sankhitta.
- 61. Paramattha Sankhitta.
- 62. Chapter on Material ualities (in brief).
- 63. Nibbāna vissajjanā Manual.
- 64. Ledi uestions and Answers.
- 65. uestions on Sotāpanna.
- 66. Sāsanavisodhani, ols. I, II & III.
- 67. ambhira kabyā kyan (Manual of Profound erses).
- 6 . Open letter for abstention from taking beef.

69.

Letter of reply to U Ba Bwa, Township Officer of Dedaye, saying that he could not go on a pilgri mage to Ceylon that year.

- 70. Admonitory letter to U Saing, Headman of Saingpyin illage, for abstention from taking intoxicants.
- 71. Admonitory letter to the inhabitants of Dipeyin Township for abstention from taking intoxicants.
- 72. Admonitory letter prohibiting lotteries and gambling.
- 73. An advice to hold a lighting festival at the Bo Tree within the precincts of Ledi Monastery, Monywa.
- 74. Letter to U Hmat, a ruby merchant of Mogok.

75.

Inscription at Sihataw Pagoda, written by the enerable Mahā thera Ledi Sayadaw at the re uest of U Hmat.

76. Epic on Sa vega.

The English translations of the works marked ( ) are printed in a single volume The Manuals of Buddhis m and published by The Deputy Director, at the eligious Affairs Dept. Press, egu, Kabā Aye P.O., a ngoon, Burma.

### Works by Ledi Saydaw available from BPS

Manual of Insight ipassanā Dipani (Wheel No. 31/32)

The Requisites of Enlightenment Bodhipakkhiya Dipani (BP 412S)

The Noble Eightfold Path and its Factors Explained Magganga Dipani (Wheel No. 245/247)

The Buddhist Philosophy of Relations Patthāna Dipani (Wheel No. 331/333)

Forthcoming
The Manual of the Supreme Man
Uttamapurisa Dipani
(planned for 1999)

The Five Kinds of Light Alin Kyan (complete) (planned for 2000)

### THE BUDDHIST PUBLICATION SOCIET

The BPS is an approved charity dedicated to making known the Teaching of the Buddha, which h as a vital message for people of all creeds. Founded in 195, the BPS has published a wide variet y of books and booklets covering a great range of topics. Its publications include accurate annotated translations of the Buddha's discourses, standard reference works, as well as original contemporary expositions of Buddhist thought and practice. These works present Buddhism as it truly is a dynamic force which has influenced receptive minds for the past 2500 years and is still as relevant today as it was when it first arose. A full list of our publications will be sent upon refuses. Write to

The Hony. Secretary
BUDDHIST PUBLICATION SOCIET
P.O. Box 61

54, Sangharaja Mawatha Kandy • Sri Lanka E-mail bps mail.lanka.net Website http://www.lanka.com/dhamma